1982

Diane E. Kapetanov v. Small Claims Court of Ogden, Utah : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Memorandum Decision dated November 24, 1981 by Judge Ronald O. Hyde of the District Court of Weber County, State of Utah. Specifically, appellant appeals the trial court's denial of a Motion for a Writ of Prohibition on the basis that the Small Claims Court is a court of appropriate jurisdiction for the determination of Food Stamp fraud cases.

DISPOSITION OF THE LOWER COURT

On September 15, 1981, a Petition for a Writ of Prohibition was filed in the Second Judicial District Court of Weber County on behalf of the petitioner, Diane E. Kapetanov, and others similarly situated. Petitioners sought the Writ to prohibit the bringing of fraud actions in the Small Claims Court of Ogden City against members of petitioners' class. Petitioners allege that such proceedings are in excess of the jurisdiction of the Small Claims Court. A Temporary Restraining Order was issued by the Honorable Ronald O. Hyde on September 15, 1981, ordering the Small Claims Court to refrain from exercising jurisdiction in proceedings wherein a determination that a defendant had committed Food Stamp fraud was required. A hearing on the Petition for a Writ of Prohibition was heard before the Honorable Ronald O. Hyde on October 2, 1981 with oral argument presented by counsel for petitioners and counsel for Intervening Respondent. On that same date, a stipulation was entered into dissolving the September 15 Temporary Restraining Order and providing that the Intervening Respondent would voluntarily refrain from filing Food Stamp fraud cases in Ogden City Small Claims Court pending the outcome of the hearing. On November 24, 1981, the Court entered its Memorandum Decision denying the Petition for a Writ of Prohibition and this appeal followed.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants ask this Court to reverse the trial court's Memorandum Decision denying the Petition for a Writ of Prohibition.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In November 1979, petitioner, Diane E. Kapetanov, resided in Weber County with her three children. Like many other low income persons, Mrs. Kapetanov was receiving a monthly Food Stamp allotment through the State of Utah, Department of Social Services. As Mrs. Kapetanov stated in her affidavit, discipline and communication problems prevented her from knowing that her oldest son had a job. Not knowing that, she did not report it on her November 28, 1979 review form. Upon learning in December of her son's employment, Mrs. Kapetanov immediately reported the fact to the Food Stamp office and submitted wage stubs from her son's employment. As a result of the reported information, it was determined that Mrs. Kapetanov had received a Food Stamp overpayment in the alleged amount of \$270.00.

On July 7, 1981, the State of Utah, Office of Recovery Services (ORS) claimed, by the Affidavit filed in Ogden City Small Claims Court, that Mrs. Kapetanov had knowingly and willfully withheld information relevant to her eligibility for Food Stamps. On the basis of an alleged fraud, ORS sought to recover \$270.00. Mrs. Kapetanov failed to appear at the Small Claims hearing

and a default judgment was entered against her on July 28, 1981.

The default judgment was subsequently set aside and at a hearing on August 25, 1981, Mrs. Kapetanov moved to dismiss the proceeding on the grounds that the finding of fraud required by the Food Stamp program regulations was a declaratory judgment and that the Ogden City Small Claims Court was not a court of competent jurisdiction to grant such a declaration. The Small Claims Court granted Mrs. Kapetanov leave to petition for a Writ of Prohibition, which she subsequently did on behalf of herself and others similarly situated. It is from the denial of this Petition that petitioners appeal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE LOWER COURT'S MEMORANDUM
DECISION SHOULD BE REVERSED SINCE
A SMALL CLAIMS COURT DECLARATION
OF FRAUD IS A DECLARATORY JUDGMENT
OUTSIDE THE JURISDICTION OF A
SMALL CLAIMS COURT.

The Food Stamp program is designed to promote the general welfare and to safeguard the health and well being of the nation's population by raising the levels of nutrition among low income households. Funding of program benefits is borne entirely by the United States Department of Agriculture; administrative costs and responsibility for implementation are shared with the States. Food Stamp program regulations, promulgated by the Secretary of Agriculture, are found at 7 C.F.R. §§270 et. seq. Included

are specific regulations governing the collection of overpayments to be discussed herein.

Because of the multiplicity of factors involved in calculating Food Stamp benefit levels, recipients at times are allotted more Food Stamps than they are entitled to. The procedures for dealing with excess Food Stamp allotments are contained in the regulations under "Claims against households" and are separated into "fraud" and "non-fraud" claims. 7 C.F.R. §273.18 The regulations list the following as some instances in which claims may arise:

(1) The household failed to provide the State agency with correct or complete information.

(2) The household failed to report to the State agency changes in its household circumstances.

....

(5) The State agency failed to take prompt action on a change reported by the household.

(6) The State agency incorrectly computed the household's income or deductions, or otherwise assigned an incorrect allotment.

....

(8) The household was found to be ineligible or eligible for fewer benefits than it received pending a fair hearing decision. 7 C.F.R. §273.18(a) (Provisions not applicable in Utah have been omitted)

The regulations further detail procedures for the establishment and collection of both fraud and non-fraud claims. Legal process for collection is available only after fraud is established and after other collection methods have been attempted. 7 C.F.R. §273.18(c). Non-fraud claims collections may be suspended and terminated under certain circumstances. 7 C.F.R. §273.18 (b) (3), (4). Since the State has characterized the claims involved herein as willful withholding of information, the following discussion will focus on "fraud claims".

The Food Stamp regulations at 7 C.F.R. §273.18(c) explicitly provide that a claim against a Food Stamp household may be handled as a fraud claim only if an administrative fraud hearing or a court of appropriate jurisdiction has found that the household committed fraud as defined in §273.16(b). That definition of fraud states:

[F]raud shall consist of any action by an individual to knowingly, willfully and with deceitful intent:

- (1) Make a false statement to the State agency, either orally or in writing, to obtain benefits to which the household is not entitled;
- (2) Conceal information to obtain benefits to which the household is not entitled;
- (3) Alter ATP's to obtain benefits to which the household is not entitled;

(4) Use coupons to buy expensive or conspicuous nonfood items such as alcohol or cartons of cigarettes;

(5) Use or possess improperly obtained coupons or ATPs; or

(6) Trade or sell coupons or ATP's.
7 C.F.R. §273.16(b)

The burden of proving fraud is on the State agency, 7 C.F.R. §273.16(d). Only after a declaration of fraud can the State agency proceed to collection. 7 C.F.R. §273.18(c) But even after fraud is determined, the procedure for collecting fraud claims is prescribed by the federal regulations which provide, in part:

If a household member is found to have committed fraud (through an administrative fraud hearing or by a court of appropriate jurisdiction) the State agency shall send the individual a written agreement letter for restitution as indicated in §273.16 (d) (9) (ii). In addition, a personal contact shall be made, if possible. The State agency shall initiate such collection unless the household has repaid the overissuance as a result of nonfraud demand letters, the State agency has documentation which shows the household cannot be located, or the legal representative prosecuting a member of the household for fraud advises, in writing, that collection action will prejudice the case. In cases where a household member was found guilty of fraud by a court, the State agency shall request the matter of restitution be brought before the court. 7 C.F.R. §273.18(c) (2) (i).

The regulations also prescribe methods for compromising

the amount to be collected in certain instances:

State agencies shall collect payments for fraud claims in one of the following ways:

(i) Reduction in food stamp allotment. Prior to reduction, the State agency shall discuss with the household the amount of food stamps to be recovered each month. The amount of food stamps to be recovered each month shall be the lesser of 25 percent of the household's monthly allotment or the fraudulent individual's pro rata share of the entitlement. Recovery of less than these amounts shall be accepted only if it results in equal increments or if the full amount can be recovered within a year using a lesser percentage. If the full amount of the claim cannot be liquidated in 3 years, the State agency shall compromise the claim by reducing it to an amount that will allow the household to make restitution within 3 years. A State agency may use the full amount of the claim (including any amount compromised) to offset benefits in accordance with §272.17.

(ii) Repayment in cash. If the household member found guilty of fraud agrees to a repayment in cash, and the individual is financially able to repay the claim in full, the State agency shall collect the payment in one lump sum. However, if the household has insufficient liquid resources or is otherwise unable to pay the claim in one lump sum, payments shall be accepted in regular installments. The household shall not be required to liquidate all of its resources to make this repayment. If the full amount of the claim cannot be liquidated in 3 years, the State agency shall compromise the claim by reducing it to an amount that will allow the individual to pay the claim in 3 years. A State agency may use the full amount of the claim (including any amount compromised) to offset benefits in accordance with §273.17. 7 C.F.R. §273.18(e)(2).

The "collection" contemplated by the Food Stamp regulations differs substantially from the collection afforded by a Small Claims Court whose judgment may be executed upon immediately by the sheriff. Because the Food Stamp regulations require exhaustion of mandated procedures and prohibit immediate coercive relief, ORS does not seek to invoke the coercive consequences of a Small Claims Court finding of fraud. Rather, ORS asks the court to declare that the recipient has committed fraud. Such a finding is a declaratory judgment outside the power of the Small Claims Court.

A generally accepted definition of a "declaratory judgment" is:

One which simply declares the rights of the parties or expresses the opinion of the court on a question of law, without ordering anything to be done. Its distinctive characteristics are that no executory process follows as of course, nor is it necessary that an actual wrong, giving rise to action for damages should have been done, or be immediately threatened. Black's Law Dictionary, citing Petition of Kariher, 284 Pa. 455, 131 A. 265, 268.

The distinction between a mere declaration of rights and coercive decree is illuminated by BORCHARD, DECLARATORY JUDGMENTS, 443, as cited in Gray v. Defa, 135 P.2d 251, 255 (Utah 1943):

The coercive decree looks only to some immediate need, whereas the declaration of rights, by clarifying the legal relations, has prospective value in stabilizing the legal position.

The United States Supreme Court spoke unequivocally of the absence of coercion in declaratory judgments:

[E]ven though a federal declaratory judgment has 'the force and effect of a final judgment', 28 U.S.C. §2201 [28 U.S.C.A. §2201], it is a much milder form of relief than an injunction. Though it may be persuasive, it is not ultimately coercive; non-compliance with it may be inappropriate, but it is not contempt. Steffel v. Thompson, 415 U.S. 452, 471 (1974), quoting Perez v. Ledesma, 401 U.S. 82, 124-27 (1971).

In upholding the constitutionality of the Federal Declaratory Judgment Act, now codified at 28 U.S.C. §2201, Chief Justice Hughes wrote:

[T]he judicial function may be appropriately exercised although the adjudication of the rights of the litigants may not require the award of process or the payment of damages. (Citations omitted) And it is not essential to the exercise of the judicial power that an injunction be sought; allegations that irreparable injury is threatened are not required. Aetna Life Insurance Co. of Hartford, Conn. v. Haworth, 300 U.S. 227, 240 (1937).

Further indication of the non-coercive nature of a declaratory judgment can be found in Powell v. McCormack, 395 U.S. 486, 499 (1969):

A court may grant declaratory relief even though it chooses not to issue an injunction or mandamus, and a declaratory judgment can then be used as a predicate to further relief, including an injunction.

The Utah Supreme Court has spoken recently of the distinction:

The purpose of the creation of the declaratory judgment procedure was to avoid the difficulties of the common-law rule that rights would not be adjudicated by a court unless there had been a violation for which relief could be granted.... Salt Lake County v. Salt Lake City, 570 P.2d 119, 120 (Utah 1977).

Because fraud determinations in the Food Stamp program are declaratory judgments, the Small Claims Court is not the "court of appropriate jurisdiction" under 7 C.F.R. §273.18(c). Pursuant to U.C.A. §78-33-1, only a District Court can issue a declaratory judgment. Section 78-6-1 creates Small Claims Courts as a department of the Circuit Courts, whose own powers are specifically enumerated at U.C.A. §78-4-7. Nowhere in the statute's detailed listing of the Circuit Court's civil jurisdiction is there provision for the granting of declaratory judgments. This Court has held:

It is a well established rule of construction that where a statute grants a power or right the powers not mentioned in the enumeration are intended to be excluded. Suth St. Const. Sec. 325. Hansen v. Board of Education, etc., 116 P.2d 936 (Utah 1941). See also In re Hubbard, 396 P.2d 809 (Cal. 1964).

Since declaratory judgments are not listed as one of the powers of the Circuit Court, the conclusion follows that the Circuit Court does not have the power to grant declaratory judgments.

Further, U.C.A. §78-6-1 provides that the

Small Claims Court "shall have jurisdiction...for the recovery of money only..." By the same rule of construction supra, this language implies that the Court is not empowered to grant other types of relief, e.g., declaratory judgments. The actions brought by the Intervening Respondent are not for the recovery of money, since federal regulations forestall any coercive collection efforts by ORS. Rather, the actions brought seek declaratory judgments and are outside the jurisdiction of Small Claims Court.

In a similar context, the United States Supreme Court held that the U.S. Court of Claims was without jurisdiction under the Federal Declaratory Judgment Act, supra, to issue declaratory judgments. Noting that it had held in 1868 that "the only judgments which the Court of Claims [is] authorized to render...are judgments for money found due," a unanimous Supreme Court held:

There is not a single indication in the Declaratory Judgment Act or its history that Congress, in passing that Act, intended to give the Court of Claims an expanded jurisdiction that had been denied to it for nearly a century. In the absence of an express grant of jurisdiction from Congress, we decline to assume that the Court of Claims has been given the authority to issue declaratory judgments. United States v. King, 395 U.S. 1, 5 (1969).

Careful consideration of the federal Food Stamp regulations and the statutory authority of the Small Claims Court supports the conclusion that the actions brought by the Intervening Respondent, State of Utah

Office of Recovery Services, result in improper declaratory judgments. The Intervening Respondent must follow procedures prescribed by federal regulation, to collect on a fraud claim. After fraud is determined, ORS must send a demand letter, make a personal visit, reduce any current Food Stamp allotment, and accept payment in installments if warranted; ORS is prohibited from liquidating resources if the recipient is unable to pay. 7 C.F.R. §273.18(c)(2), (e)(2) None of the federally established safeguards protect a defendant subject to execution upon a judgment issuing from a Small Claims Court. Small Claims Court judgments allow the full range of execution devices:

Attachment, garnishment and execution may issue after judgment in the manner prescribed by law upon the payment of the fees allowed by law for such services. U.C.A. §78-6-8

As a general statement, the District Court's decision is correct in holding that a Small Claims Court can find that money is due and owing based on its finding that fraud was committed without running afoul of that Court's incapacity to render declaratory judgments. But the character of the relief sought must determine the relief to be afforded. Intervening Respondent ORS can, under its federal regulatory constraints, request only that the court determine whether fraud was committed. Its next steps are that series of collection activities noted above that may culminate in coercive process issued by a court of appropriate jurisdiction. Hence, the Small

Claims Court is asked to render a determination of fraud, not to direct any further coercive action; to ask for more would contravene federal regulations. Such declaratory judgments are beyond the statutory powers of the Small Claims Courts of Utah and should be prohibited.

Additional evidence that the bringing of fraud claims in Small Claims Court is inappropriate can be found in the disqualification provisions of the federal Food Stamp law and regulations. The Food Stamp Act of 1977, 7 U.S.C. §2015(b) speaks of "a court of appropriate jurisdiction" in the context of a penalty to be imposed as the consequence of a fraud determination:

No individual who is a member of a household otherwise eligible to participate in the food stamp program shall be eligible to participate for ... (2) a period of not less than six and not more than twenty-four months, as determined by the court, after such individual has been found by a court of appropriate jurisdiction... to have been criminally or civilly fraudulent in the use, presentation, transfer, acquisition, receipt, possession, or alteration of coupons...

The regulations elaborate:

A court of appropriate jurisdiction, with either the State, a political subdivision of the State, or the United States as prosecutor or plaintiff, may order an individual disqualified from participation in the program for not less than 6 months and not more than 24 months if the court finds that individual guilty of civil or criminal fraud. Court ordered disqualifications may be imposed separate and apart from any action taken by the State agency to disqualify the individual through an administrative fraud hearing.
7 C.F.R. §273.16(e) (1)

As noted previously, the Small Claims Court's jurisdiction is limited to "the recovery of money only...". In mandating disqualification, Congress did not address its concern to dollar amounts, but rather to the power of the particular Court to issue a punitive order. Thus, the appropriateness of the Court must be viewed not only in terms of the power of a court to make a declaratory judgment, but also in terms of its authority to order the sanction. Ordering such a disqualification is patently in excess of the jurisdiction of a Small Claims Court, compelling the conclusion that Small Claims is not the "court of appropriate jurisdiction" intended by Congress.

Further indication that Small Claims is not the court intended by Congress for the bringing of fraud claims lies in 7 C.F.R. §273.16(e)(2). The regulation provides:

State agencies are encouraged to refer for prosecution under State or local fraud statutes those individuals suspected of committing fraud, particularly if large amounts of food stamps are suspected of being fraudulently obtained or the individual is suspected of committing more than one fraudulent act. The State agency shall confer with its legal representatives to determine the types of cases which will be accepted for possible prosecution. State agencies shall also encourage State and local prosecutors to recommend to the courts that a disqualification penalty as provided in section 6(b) of the Food Stamp Act be imposed in addition to any other civil or criminal fraud penalties. (emphasis added)

By definition "large amounts of food stamps"

are not involved when the Intervening Respondent files its action in Small Claims Court. (Indeed, earlier Food Stamp program regulations provided:

The State agency may decline collection action to recover the value of the excess free coupons from the recipient household in any case in which such value is less than \$400... 7 C.F.R. §217.7(f) [1977].)

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