1982

# Diane E. Kapetanov v. Small Claims Court of Ogden, Utah : Brief of Intervening Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I: THE FOOD STAMP ACT SETS FORTH THREE ENTIRELY SEPARATE MEANS OF COLLECTION OF FOOD STAMP OVERPAYMENTS.

The regulations set forth by the Department of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service as implementation of the Food Stamp Act of 1977, 7 CFR 270 et seq. (1981), establishes both a means for collection of food stamp overpayments by the State and an obligation to do so. See 7 CFR 273.15, 273.18 (1981). Three processes are separately set forth in order that persons may be afforded full due process when an overpayment claim is made.

The first means of collection is an administrative procedure. Concern was taken to insure adequate due process protections would be given in such a nonjudicial setting. In the General Comments Section of 43 Fed. Reg. 47845, 47846, (1978), there is clarification of the policy for administrative proceedings as applied to fraud disqualification.

"Some State agencies expressed concern over the constitutionality of administrative fraud hearing procedures and cited State laws which require that fraud be determined only by courts. Notwithstanding State law, Congress has authority to provide an administrative procedure for disqualifying individuals from Federal benefit programs who have committed fraud so long as the constitutional requirements of due process are met. The Department carefully considered those due process requirements in establishing the fraud hearing standards. In addition, the term "fraud" is strictly defined in the regulations to protect the individual and to assure that the administrative determination of fraud is applied consistently."

Although the matter before the Court does not involve disqualification (Comments Section 45 Fed. Reg. 7208 (1980)), the concerns about administrative procedure are pertinent to the matter at hand. The subsequent comments about fair and fraud hearing procedures elaborate upon the concerns about administrative procedures.

The State, through the Office of Recovery Services, (hereinafter State), may also proceed civilly for collection through a "Court of appropriate jurisdiction", 7 CFR 273.18(c). Again, procedures for civil collection are intertwined with those for disqualification, but in Section 273.18(c)(2)(ii), administrative repayment is extensively discussed ending with the following:

. . . . A written demand letter for an unpaid or partially paid claim shall be sent even if the household has previously received a nonfraud demand letter because the time period covered by the claim and the method of collection are different for fraud and nonfraud claims. In addition to the written agreement letter, a personal contact shall be made, if possible. THE STATE AGENCY MAY ALSO INITIATE CIVIL COURT ACTION TO OBTAIN THE CLAIM. (emphasis not in original).

Office of Recovery Services may also prosecute food stamp recipients criminally for fraudulent receipt of food stamp benefits. Section 273.18 (c)(2)(i) states:

The State agency shall initiate such collection unless... the legal representative prosecuting a member of the household for fraud advises, in writing, that collection action will prejudice the case. In cases where a household member was FOUND GUILTY OF FRAUD by a court, the State agency shall request the matter of restitution be brought before the court. (emphasis not in original)

The sections on disqualification which precede the collection section address administrative disqualification, and, in doing so, specify which cases are appropriate for civil or criminal action, to-wit:

(d) ADMINISTRATIVE DISQUALIFICATION. Each State agency shall establish procedures for conducting fraud hearings which must conform with the procedures outlined in this section. An administrative fraud hearing should be initiated by the State agency in cases in which the State agency has sufficient documentary evidence to substantiate that an individual has committed one or more acts of fraud as defined in paragraph (b) of this section. Such cases may include those in which the State agency believes the facts of the individual case do not warrant civil or criminal prosecution through the appropriate court system. Other cases may be those previously referred for prosecution but for which prosecution was declined by the appropriate legal authority. 7 CFR 273.16(d)

These three procedures are clearly separate in the regulations. Criminal and civil proceedings are clearly separate in the law. See Utah Code Annotated, 68-3-4 (as amended). Also see Gross v. U.S., 228 F.2d 602, 614 and 615, (1956). Administrative rules for conduct by a department regulate that department and cannot regulate due process by a court. The administrative rules for fair and fraud hearings were adopted to insure only that the State did not abuse the administrative process and said guidelines are separate from the civil and criminal proceedings. A careful reading of the regulations demonstrates that the failure to specify that the civil and criminal judicial determinations were to also be subject to

those rules was pointedly, necessarily and intentionally done. The regulatory rules do not apply to the judicial system.

POINT II: THE ADMINISTRATIVE RULES  
ARE TO REGULATE ADMINISTRATIVE PRO-  
CEEDINGS, NOT TO REGULATE JUDICIAL  
PROCEDURE.

To support the theory of the Plaintiff-Appellants in this action, one would have to discard the separation of powers doctrine. Plaintiff-Appellants' entire argument is based on her assertion that the jurisdiction of the Small Claims Court is governed by the same rules as those for administrative proceedings.

The separation of powers doctrine established as the prevailing rule that there shall be a complete separation of powers without qualification. O'Donoghue v. U.S., 53 S Ct 740 289 U.S. 516, 530, 77 L Ed 1356 (1933). One department should not act to control or embarrass another. State ex rel Kostos v. Johnson, 69 NE2d 592, 595 (Ind 1946). Although there have been numerous exceptions to the rule, the intent of such a policy is intact. The Department of Agriculture cannot, therefore, propagate rules which would govern judicial procedure. To allow such a policy would cause the judicial system to be at the mercy of the constantly changing regulations of differing administrative agencies. For example, the Department of Agriculture could require 30 days notice and another department require no more than 10 days. Such chaos was not the intent of the regulations in question.

The purpose of the substantial procedure set forth in the regulations was to insure there would not be an abuse of due process in the administrative system. At no point in the regulations does it state that such procedures must be utilized in civil or criminal judicial proceedings. In fact, numerous times procedure is carefully enumerated for administrative proceedings and concluded with a single sentence that the State may also collect civilly or criminally. See 7 CFR 273.16, 273.18(c).

Any noncompliance with administrative regulations by a department does not eliminate the Court's ability to hear the matter, but is a matter for the court to consider as it determines the State's right to a judgment. Noncompliance with regulations by a State could result in penalties by the Department of Agriculture or in the court's determination that the State does not have a valid claim for money judgment. The defendant in any such action could raise as a defense the State's failure to provide the protections afforded in administrative proceedings.

Perhaps the fallacy of the Plaintiff-Appellants' arguments becomes most clear when applied to District Court. The Plaintiff-Appellants' argument would mean the District Court could not exercise jurisdiction in a matter if the State failed to comply with regulations. The District Court does have jurisdiction to determine money owed and even to declare

the rights of the parties, and failure of the State to comply with administrative regulations would be a consideration of the court in awarding a judgment, but not reason to deny the Court jurisdiction. The District Court, without question, would have jurisdiction in determinations of food stamp fraud.

The ridiculousness of Plaintiff-Appellants' argument as to jurisdiction of the judicial system reaches its extreme in this matter. If Plaintiff-Appellants' argument were followed to the logical conclusion, even this Court, the Utah State Supreme Court, would be unable to hear this very matter if the State were found to have failed to comply with the administrative regulations. The actions of an administrative body would rob our Court of jurisdiction which would otherwise be proper.

The intent of the term "court of appropriate jurisdiction" is not to regulate administratively which court is appropriate, but to refer to the judicial system and to develop an alternative to judicial action by administrative procedure.

The administrative rules referred to do not govern judicially enforced repayments and do not apply to the case at hand.

POINT III: APPELLANT WAS ACCORDED FULL  
DUE PROCESS IN SMALL CLAIMS COURT.

The Plaintiff-Appellants have been afforded adequate due process protections. The United States Supreme Court has

stated in Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 US 471, 33 L Ed 484, 92 S Ct 2593:

Once it is determined that due process applies, the question remains what process is due. It has been said so often by this Court and others as not to require citation of authority that due process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands. Consideration of what procedures due process may require under any given set of circumstances must begin with a determination of the precise nature of the government function involved as well as of the private interest that has been affected by governmental action. Cafeteria & Restaurant Workers Union vs. McElroy, 367 U.S. 886, 895, 6 L Ed2d 1230, 1236, 81 S Ct 1743 (1961). To say that the concept of due process is flexible does not mean that judges are at large to apply it to any and all relationships. Its flexibility is in its scope once it has been determined that some process is due; it is a recognition that not all situations calling for procedural safeguards call for the same kind of procedure. Supra at 481 (1972)

The Plaintiff-Appellant was accorded full due process rights in small claims court. She was personally served with a copy of the Affidavit stating it was for an overpayment with the State and further specifying it was based on unreported income. The Affiant in Small Claims Court must attest that he/she has demanded payment but that defendant refused to pay. Utah Code Ann., 78-6-2, (as amended). The defendant also had the right to present witnesses and evidence in the case. Utah Code Ann., 78-6-7, (as amended).

The plaintiff in Small Claims Court, the State, had many contacts with both Plaintiff-Appellant and her counsel.



At one point, action was completely deferred for six weeks at request of Defendant's counsel. Several letters were then again sent before the case went to Small Claims. Plaintiff-Appellant had months of notice before judgment was granted and then it was set aside to allow appearance of counsel.

Small Claims Court also provides for a de novo trial in District Court should the defendant be dissatisfied. Utah Code Ann., 78-6-11, (as amended). Such an appeals procedure insures every due process protection to the defendant.

Additionally, the defendant in Small Claims Court has the opportunity to have the determination of fraud made by a judicial officer who is well acquainted with the statutes and case law pertaining to fraud.

All of these due process rights have been afforded the defendant and to all members of the class in this action.

POINT IV: THE SMALL CLAIMS COURT HAS JURISDICTION IN THIS MATTER.

The Small Claims Court has similar jurisdiction to the Circuit Court with the limitation being that jurisdiction is limited in Small Claims to cases for "money only" where the sum claimed does not exceed \$400.00. Utah Code Ann., 78-6-1, (as amended) sets forth the creation of the Small Claims Court, to-wit:

"There is hereby created in the circuit courts and justice's courts of this state,

a department to be known as the "SMALL CLAIMS COURT" which shall have jurisdiction, but not exclusive, in cases for the recovery of money only where the amount claimed does not exceed \$400 and where the defendant resides or action of indebtedness was incurred within the jurisdiction of the court in which the action is to be maintained. Persons or corporations may litigate actions on behalf of themselves in person or through authorized employees or without counsel." Utah Code Ann. 78-6-1 (as amended)

Since Small Claims Court's jurisdictional definition does not specify what types of cases are meant by "cases for the recovery of money only", one must consult the mother statute in which those civil actions which may be taken in Circuit Court are specified, to-wit:

(1) The circuit court shall have civil jurisdiction:

(a) In actions arising on contract, for the recovery of money only if the sum claimed is less than \$5,000, exclusive of costs or court.

(b) In actions to recover a fine, penalty, or forfeiture less than \$5,000 given by statute or by ordinance of an incorporated city or town.

Utah Code Ann., 78-4-7 (as amended)

The statutory definition specifies two types of cases which are for "recovery of money only". The first is for actions arising on contract. The second is to recovery a fine, penalty or forfeiture.

This action fits jurisdictionally in both areas. The application Plaintiff-Appellant signed to receive benefits states the requirements for reporting changes in the household.

Plaintiff-Appellant agreed to provide such information as a consideration for receipt of benefits. When she failed to provide such information, she breached the agreement for benefits. When the State filed the Small Claims affidavit, the State asked for "money only", return of the money they expended to Plaintiff-Appellant when she was ineligible.

Jurisdiction in Small Claims Court was also proper because the State of Utah, Utah Code Ann., 78-4-7 (as amended), and Federal Government, 7 CFR 273.18, require that food stamp assistance received improperly must be repaid. Such statutorily mandated repayment would be a fine, penalty or forfeiture under the jurisdiction definition.

Nothing more than money has been sought in Small Claims Court. Plaintiff-Appellant asserts that an order of disqualification could be ordered by the Court without motion by the State. Such a position is not supported in logic. If, in fact, the State chooses to proceed in Small Claims Court for a money judgment, they have also chosen, by virtue of the jurisdictional limitations of Small Claims Court, to not have a judicial determination of disqualification. If disqualification was requested, the Small Claims Court would simply deny the request as not being a money judgment. A declaratory judgment as they call it, need not be granted where there is an adequate remedy at law as in this case. Plaintiff-Appellants assert that a determination of fraud cannot be made by the

Small Claims Court. This issue will be fully addressed in the next section.

Plaintiff-Appellant has also alleged that the Small Claims Court was not intended as a court of proper jurisdiction and cites in support, 7 CFR § 273.16(e)(2). Plaintiff-Appellants' brief at page 15. Plaintiff-Appellants misrepresent the regulations in arguing that an amount less than \$400.00 is not a "large amount" as defined in the regulations. Although no reference is made to a minimum collection amount for fraud claims, at 7 CFR 273.18(b)(3)(A), the minimum amount for non-fraud claims is designated as \$35.00. Since all fraud claims must be handled as nonfraud until a determination of fraud is made in an administrative hearing or by a court of appropriate jurisdiction, it would appear that the \$35.00 minimum would also apply to fraud claims. 7 CFR 273.18(c).

Jurisdiction of this matter is proper in Small Claims Court.

POINT V: A DETERMINATION OF FRAUD IN  
FOOD STAMP OVERPAYMENT CASES IS NOT  
A DECLARATORY JUDGMENT.

Plaintiff-Appellants argue in their brief that the determination of fraud in a food stamp overpayment matter before Small Claims Court is a declaratory judgment. Their position is unfounded in law and in fact.

For their argument Plaintiff-Appellants rely upon the previously cited regulations of the Department of Agriculture, Food Stamp Department. Those regulations do not apply

to regulate judicial proceedings. This point was fully set forth in Point II.

Plaintiff-Appellants have misconstrued the regulations pertaining to fraud determinations even if the Court was to apply the regulations. They assert that two separate actions must be taken in determination of fraudulent receipt of food stamps. (Plaintiff-Appellants' brief at page 13). The regulations do not require a bifurcated process wherein fraud is first determined and then judgment obtained.

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